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The Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) was passed “to promote the 

availability of credit to all creditworthy applicants without regard to race, color, 

religion, national origin, sex, marital status, or age.”  12 C.F.R. § 1002.1(b) 

(emphasis added).  Thus, at the least, Plaintiffs must be able to allege (1) they were 

applicants (2) for credit and (3) they experienced discrimination in connection with 

their application, in order to state a claim under ECOA.  If they cannot allege such 

facts, then they have no plausible claim for relief under the statute. 

 Plaintiffs fail to state a claim under ECOA.  While they maintain they 

suffered discrimination at the hands of the Farm Service Agency (FSA) and its 

employees, they do not allege facts to show they applied for credit, nor do they 

specify the credit for which they applied.  Moreover, they do not allege facts to 

show they were treated differently from similarly situated individuals.  Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint thus lacks the short, plain statement demonstrating their entitlement to 

relief under ECOA that Fed. R. Civ. P. 8 requires.  The Complaint should therefore 

be dismissed or, in the alternative, Plaintiffs should be directed to submit a more 

definite statement. 

I. Plaintiffs fail to state a claim under ECOA and their Complaint should 
be dismissed. 

In order to make out a claim under ECOA, a plaintiff must show (1) she is a 

member of a protected class; (2) she applied for credit with defendants; (3) she 

qualified for credit; (4) she was denied credit despite being qualified; and (5) other 
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similarly situated persons, not members of her protected class or classes were 

extended credit or given more favorable treatment.  Shiplet v. Veneman, 620 F. 

Supp. 2d 1203, 1232 (D. Mont. 2009).  Plaintiffs, however, (1) do not allege facts 

showing they were “applicants” for credit; (2) do not allege they sought “credit” 

from the FSA; and (3) do not plead facts to show similarly situated individuals 

outside their protected class were given more favorable treatment.  Plaintiffs’ 

allegations therefore do not meet the prima facie standard for an ECOA claim, 

which is the standard that courts look to when assessing the sufficiency of a 

complaint, and their Complaint should be dismissed. 

a. Plaintiffs do not allege facts showing they were “applicants” for 
credit. 

ECOA makes it unlawful for “any creditor to discriminate against any 

applicant, with respect to any aspect of a credit transaction.”  15 U.S.C. § 1691(a) 

(emphasis added).  The statute specifically defines “applicant” as “any person who 

applies to a creditor directly for an extension, renewal, or continuation of credit, or 

applies to a creditor indirectly by use of an existing credit plan for an amount 

exceeding a previously established credit limit.”  15 U.S.C.A. § 1691a(a).  If a 

plaintiff does not allege that she applied or sought to apply for credit, then she does 

not fall within the class of parties who can assert a claim under the law.  Arikat v. 

JP Morgan Chase & Co., 430 F. Supp. 2d 1013, 1026 (N.D. Cal. 2006); 
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Gatpandan v. Wilmington Sav. Fund Soc’y FSB, No. 17-CV-04001-LB, 2017 WL 

5751208, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 28, 2017).  

Plaintiffs do not allege they applied for any credit with FSA.  They instead 

allege FSA withheld “loans and other farm payments from Plaintiffs.”  Doc. 1 

¶¶ 12, 20.  Plaintiffs provide no details about whether they applied for a loan, when 

they applied, or which loan program they applied under.  Indeed, it is not clear 

from their Complaint whether they are claiming FSA withheld loan proceeds for 

which Plaintiffs had applied, or if Plaintiffs were only theoretically prevented in 

seeking loans from the FSA due to FSA’s purported “dismantling” and “recasting” 

of their lands.  Either way, these allegations are not sufficient to show Plaintiffs 

were “applicants” for any loans because they do not show Plaintiffs “applied” for 

credit in any form.  15 U.S.C. § 1691a(a).  They similarly do not show Plaintiffs 

suffered an “adverse action,” which the statute defines as “a denial or revocation of 

credit, a change in the terms of an existing credit arrangement, or a refusal to grant 

credit in substantially the amount or on substantially the terms requested.”  15 

U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6).  Plaintiffs’ allegations only amount to a claim their lands 

were reclassified, and that somehow this could have impacted their ability to obtain 

loans, even though they do not allege they ever tried to obtain such loans.  Such 

allegations do not show that plaintiffs were “applicants for credit,” and therefore 

they do not state a claim under ECOA.  See, e.g., Alexander v. AmeriPro Funding, 
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Inc., 848 F.3d 698, 707–08 (5th Cir. 2017) (concluding that plaintiffs were not 

“applicants” because they did not fill out applications and only inquired about 

credit with defendant). 

Plaintiffs now claim in their response that Defendants advance a narrow 

reading of “adverse action.”  Doc. 6, at 7-8.  They maintain that ECOA provides 

broad relief and that Defendants’ interpretation of adverse action is contrary to the 

plain meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a).  Id.   

In reality, Defendants’ is the only reading that conforms to the plain text of 

the statute.  15 U.S.C. § 1691(a) (“It shall be unlawful for any creditor to 

discriminate against any applicant”).  And, indeed, none of the cases Plaintiffs cite 

are to the contrary.  In each of these cases, the plaintiffs had applied or had taken 

steps to apply for credit.  Wilson v. Toussie, 260 F. Supp. 2d 530, 540 (E.D.N.Y. 

2003); Haynie v. Veneman, 272 F. Supp. 2d 10, 13 (D.D.C. 2003); Love v. 

Johanns, 439 F.3d 723, 729 (D.C. Cir. 2006).  Plaintiffs’ allegations fall well short 

of these cases, as they have not alleged they even spoke to someone at FSA about 

obtaining credit, let alone that Plaintiffs sought out or applied for credit.  Thus, 

absent any additional facts, Plaintiffs fail to plead the primary element of an ECOA 

claim, and their Complaint should be dismissed. 
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b. Plaintiffs allege no facts to show they ever sought “credit” from 
the FSA. 

“Credit” under the ECOA is “the right granted by a creditor to a debtor to 

defer payment of debt or to incur debts and defer its payment or to purchase 

property or services and defer payment therefor.”  15 U.S.C. § 1691a(d).  While 

the FSA does offer loan programs to farmers, it also offers farm assistance 

payments.  This Court has held, as a matter of law, that farm assistance payments 

offered by the FSA are not credit under ECOA.  Thiel v. Veneman, 859 F. Supp. 2d 

1182, 1200–01 (D. Mont. 2012).  In order to state a claim under ECOA, therefore, 

Plaintiffs must show they were denied a loan from FSA, and not just that they did 

not receive farm assistance payments. 

Plaintiffs are unable to make this showing. The only possible reference to 

credit in their Complaint is their claim the FSA has withheld “loans and other farm 

payments” from Plaintiffs.  Doc. 1 ¶¶ 12, 21.   But, as argued in Defendants’ initial 

brief, withholding payments does not constitute a violation of ECOA.  Doc. 5, at 

13-14.  More importantly, Plaintiffs make no allegation that the purported 

discrimination by FSA—the alleged “recasting” and “dismantling”—impacted 

their application for any FSA loans or credit.  Rather, Plaintiffs only claim their 

ability to receive “financial assistance” was disrupted, without clarifying whether 

this “assistance” included loans, or just farm assistance payments.  Doc. 1, ¶¶ 12-

13, 21-22, 29.  If it is the latter, then this Court’s prior holding in Thiel forecloses 

Case 4:21-cv-00030-BMM   Document 8   Filed 07/06/21   Page 6 of 14



7 
 

their claim because farm assistance payments are not credit.  Indeed, from the face 

of their Complaint, it appears Plaintiffs are claiming only that they were 

theoretically prevented from seeking loans, but they only actually applied for farm 

assistance payments.  Doc. 1 ¶¶ 12-13, 21-22, 29.  In short, Plaintiffs do not clearly 

allege they ever sought any credit with the FSA, and thus they fail to state a claim 

under ECOA. 

In their response, Plaintiffs try to rehabilitate their Complaint by reframing 

their allegations.  Plaintiffs assert that Defendants “failed to provide the required 

documentation to Plaintiffs in order for them to complete a timely application for 

assistance.”  Doc. 6, at 10.  They also claim that “additional obstacles and burdens” 

resulted in Plaintiffs being “unable to obtain assistance.”  Id.  Plaintiffs’ arguments, 

however, fail to clarify whether the claimed “assistance” was credit in the first 

place. As noted above, farm assistance payments are not credit, and obstacles that 

prevented a plaintiff from meeting a deadline for such payments would therefore 

not give rise to a claim under ECOA.   Indeed, this case is similar to Adhvaryu v. 

Bank of Am., N.A., No. CV181836DOCADSX, 2019 WL 3000611, at *4–5 (C.D. 

Cal. Apr. 10, 2019), in which a plaintiff asserted a claim for discrimination under 

ECOA without ever showing that he applied for anything constituting “credit” with 

the defendant.  Although the plaintiff had approached the defendant bank about 

non-credit transactions, including a short sale of his property, the court found the 
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plaintiff lacked standing under ECOA because he did not allege that he applied for 

“credit” with the defendant.  Id.  Similarly, here, Plaintiffs allege they sought 

“assistance,” but nowhere do they allege they applied for “credit” with FSA.  

Absent such allegations, they cannot maintain a claim under ECOA.  

Plaintiffs also now argue that FSA employees’ purported statements that 

Plaintiffs may be required to return farm assistance payments for years in which 

they were out of compliance somehow renders farm assistance payments “credit.”  

Doc. 6, at 10.  This argument, however, misconstrues the circumstances as 

Plaintiffs allege them.  If Plaintiffs were indeed required to pay back funds because 

they were out of compliance—they do not allege they have actually been ordered 

to do so—this would not be credit, but FSA recouping funds to which Plaintiffs 

were never entitled.  Such a scenario does not fall within the definition of “credit” 

provided by ECOA.  15 U.S.C. § 1691a(d).  Plaintiffs therefore do not identify any 

“credit” they sought from FSA, and their ECOA claim fails.  

c. Plaintiffs allege no facts to show they suffered any discrimination. 

In order to raise a plausible claim of discrimination under ECOA, Plaintiffs 

must specifically show they were treated differently from similarly situated 

individuals based on their membership in a protected class.  Shiplet, 620 F. Supp. 

2d at 1232.  As outlined in Defendants’ original motion, Plaintiffs make only 

unsupported assertions they were treated differently because of their race.  Doc. 5, 
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at 14-15.  Based on Plaintiffs’ own allegations, their lands were subject to 

“recasting” only because they are held in “trust.”  Doc. 1 ¶¶ 11, 21.  Plaintiffs do 

not point to other similarly situated individuals whose lands were held in trust, but 

instead point to others whose lands are held out of trust as the basis for their 

discrimination theory.  Id. ¶ 30.  However, these latter owners would not be subject 

to the same regulatory requirements as trust land—which is held for the benefit of 

others and therefore must be supervised differently—and are therefore not proper 

comparators to Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs therefore fail to allege facts showing they 

suffered disparate treatment from similarly situated individuals. 

Plaintiffs’ only response to this argument is to claim that FSA policies and 

practices have a disparate impact on Native Americans.  Doc. 6, at 11.  Even 

though this differs from the theory advanced in their Complaint (see doc. 1, ¶ 30), 

this argument cannot save their claim because “[i]n pleading the existence of an 

outwardly neutral practice, Plaintiffs must point to ‘a specific, identified ... practice 

or selection criterion.’” Adhvaryu, 2019 WL 3000611, at *5 (quoting Stout v. 

Potter, 276 F.3d 1118, 1121 (9th Cir. 2002)). “[I]t is not enough to simply allege 

that there is a disparate impact ... or point to a generalized policy that leads to such 

an impact.” Adhvaryu, 2019 WL 3000611, at *5 (quoting Smith v. City of Jackson, 

544 U.S. 228, 241 (2005)). A plaintiff must “isolat[e] and identif[y] the specific ... 

practices that are allegedly responsible for any statistical disparities.” Adhvaryu, 
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2019 WL 3000611, at *5 (quoting Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Trust, 487 U.S. 

977, 994 (1988)).  

Plaintiffs provide no details about FSA policies or practices that adversely 

impacted them.  They allege their lands were “recast” and “dismantled,” but 

provide no explanation as to why this happened and how it differed from the 

treatment afforded farmers not in their class such that the Court could infer 

discrimination.  They also fail to allege how this purported “recasting” process 

leads to disparities in treatment.  Simply claiming that non-Indian farmers are not 

subject to “reconfigurations and/or added requirements,” without more, is not 

sufficient to show disparate treatment or impact, and Plaintiffs therefore fail to 

allege a plausible claim of discrimination. 

d. Plaintiffs’ arguments regarding the prima facie standard ignore 
their burden to plead a plausible case. 

While a plaintiff is not required to prove a prima facie case at the pleading 

stage, she must at least plead sufficient facts to state a claim that is plausible on its 

face.   Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).  Courts within the Ninth 

Circuit—including the Ninth Circuit itself—therefore look to the prima facie 

evidentiary standard in discrimination suits to assess whether plaintiffs have met 

their pleading burden.  See, e.g., Sheppard v. David Evans & Assoc., 694 F.3d 

1045, 1048–50 (9th Cir. 2012); Stuart v. Vilsack, No. 2:14-CV-416-SMJ, 2016 WL 

6902347, at *3 (E.D. Wash. Nov. 23, 2016); Washington v. Certainteed Gypsum, 
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Inc., No. 2:10-CV-00204-GMN, 2011 WL 3705000, at *5 (D. Nev. Aug. 24, 

2011).  This approach makes sense, because if a plaintiff cannot assert facts in 

good faith that show a crucial element of her claim, then there is no basis for her 

suit. 

Here, plaintiffs do not allege they applied for any credit with FSA.  They 

also fail to allege facts suggesting disparate impact or treatment.  These are crucial 

elements of a prima facie case under ECOA, Shiplet, 620 F. Supp. 2d at 1232, and, 

if Plaintiffs cannot allege facts to establish them, their Complaint must be 

dismissed.  Washington, 2011 WL 3705000, at *5.  

Defendants have provided a declaration from the FSA’s State Executive 

Director to underscore the vagueness of Plaintiffs’ claims.  While the declaration is 

not essential for the Court to rule on Defendants’ motion, it highlights why FSA 

cannot even discern the basis for Plaintiffs’ claims given the facts available to the 

agency.  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (holding a 

plaintiff’s complaint must, at least, “give the defendant fair notice of what the [. . .] 

claim is and the grounds upon which it rests”).  Plaintiffs’ claims should be 

dismissed or they should at least be directed to provide a more definite statement 

with sufficient facts to make out a plausible claim for relief under ECOA.  If on 

further investigation they cannot make such allegations in good faith, then they 

have no claim under ECOA. 
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CONCLUSION 

  For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs fail to satisfy their burden to plead a 

plausible claim for relief under ECOA.  Their Complaint should therefore be 

dismissed or they should be directed to provide a more definite statement.   

DATED this 6th day of July, 2021. 

LEIF M. JOHNSON 
Acting United States Attorney 

 
/s/ Tyson M. Lies    
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
Attorney for Defendant United States 
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 Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(d)(2)(E), the attached brief is proportionately 

spaced, has a typeface of 14 points and contains 2,506 words, excluding the 

caption, tables, and certificates of service and compliance. 

 DATED this 6th day of July, 2021. 

/s/ Tyson M. Lies    
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
Attorney for Defendant United States 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on the 6th day of July, 2021, a copy of the foregoing 
document was served on the following person by the following means. 
 

 1, 2    CM/ECF 
         Hand Delivery 
         U.S. Mail 
         Overnight Delivery Service 
         Fax 
         E-Mail 
 

1.  Clerk of Court 2. Thane Johnson 
Johnson, Berg & Saxby, PLLP 
221 First Avenue East 
PO Box 3038 
Kalispell, Montana 59903-3038 
(406) 755-5535 – phone 
(406) 756-9436 - fax  
Attorney for Plaintiffs 

  
  

 
 

/s/ Tyson M. Lies    
Assistant U.S. Attorney 

 Attorney for Defendant United States 
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